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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MAYA MANSHIP, individually and on behalf of aII;

others similarly situated, Civil Action No. 1:20-CV-329 (GTS/DJS)
Plaintiff, ' CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

V. ' JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

TD BANK, N.A,,

Defendant.
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Plaintiff Maya Manship (“Plaintiff”), by her undersigned attorneys, brings this class action
individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated New York residents against Defendant
TD Bank, N.A., (“TD Bank” or “Defendant”).

l. INTRODUCTION

1. This case arises out of TD Bank’s policy and practice of charging its New York
customers a fee to receive their account billing statements (“Account Statements”) in paper form
via United States mail.

2. Account Statements serve a critical consumer protection function, providing a
record of consumers’ transactions (including setting forth fees billed and charged to them such as
the paper statement fee at issue in this action) and enabling the consumer to check for unauthorized
charges or errors.

3. In 2010, the New York legislature enacted a statute, codified at New York General
Business Law (“GBL”) § 399-zzz, that made it a deceptive act and practice for a company to
charge a fee to customers in order to receive their Account Statements in paper form via United
States mail. As stated in the bill’s sponsor memo (“Sponsor Memo”): “The purpose of this bill is
to prohibit businesses from imposing an additional rate or fee on the account of a consider [sic]
who chooses to receive paper billing statements or pay by United States mail.”

4. The Sponsor Memo further justified the need for the bill:

[Plaper billing and payment fees unfairly impact consumers that do not have

Internet access in their homes, as well as those that are uncomfortable using the

Internet, including many senior citizens and those concerned about personal

privacy. Paper billing and payment fees disproportionately affect low-income

consumers, who are less likely to have access to the Internet. Furthermore, such
policies impose an additional burden on those customers who choose to file their

billing statements for later reference, as such customers will be forced to bear the
cost of printing electronic billing statements on their home printer.



Case 1:20-cv-00329-GTS-DJS Document 1 Filed 03/23/20 Page 3 of 15

5. Consumers must have the right to receive Account Statements in the manner that
works for them.

6. N.Y. GBL 8§ 399-zzz prohibits businesses, including, for example, banks from
imposing a fee on their customers in connection with receiving Account Statements.

7. Therefore, N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz prohibits TD Bank’s conduct, and thus TD Bank’s
conduct constitutes a deceptive act and practice under N.Y. GBL § 349.

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has original jurisdiction over this suit pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d).
Plaintiff’s claims and the claims of the other members of the Class exceed $5 million, exclusive
of interest and costs, the members of the Class are citizens of New York, and Defendant is a citizen
of New Jersey.

9. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because a significant
part of the events, acts and omissions giving rise to this action occurred in this District.

10.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant operates
numerous branches in this District, Defendant does business with Plaintiff and members of the
Class in this District, and Defendant’s conduct giving rise to this lawsuit includes charging
Plaintiff and members of the Class a fee for receiving their Account Statements via the United
States mail in this District.

1.  PARTIES

11. Plaintiff Maya Manship is a citizen of New York, residing in Rensselaer County,
NY. Plaintiff Manship has maintained a checking account with TD Bank for which she receives
a paper Account Statement in the mail each month. The Account Statement reflects all the debits

and credits to her account over the statement period, including, without limitation, her electronic
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deposits, her electronic payments, and checks that she pays. The Account Statement also sets out
the fees that TD Bank charges her. Specifically, her monthly Account Statement includes a $1
charge for a “PAPER STATEMENT FEE,” the charge that TD Bank imposes on her for receiving
her monthly Account Statement in paper form, and a separate, $5.99 “MAINTENANCE FEE.”
Plaintiff Manship pays these fees to TD Bank via debits to her account.

12. Defendant TD Bank, N.A. is a federally chartered national banking association with
its principal place of business in Cherry Hill, New Jersey.

IV. EACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. The Importance of Paper Account Statements

13.  Account Statements serve important purposes for consumers. Among other things,
Account Statements:
@) Provide a record of consumers’ transactions,
(b) Enable consumers to check for unauthorized charges and/or errors,
(© Disclose fees banks charge consumers,
(d) Allow consumers to ensure that they receive proper credit for items returned
or disputed,
(e) Assist consumers to keep track of their finances, and
()] Provide a permanent record of the consumer’s income, expenses,
transactions and fees.
Account Statements are also used in banks’ consideration of whether consumers qualify for
mortgages or other forms of credit and are important when preparing tax returns and looking at

records of bill payments.
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14. For all of these reasons, it is important that consumers are able to receive statements
in the form that is most convenient to them and that ensures consumers’ access to these critical
records.

B. Ensuring Access to Account Statements: Electronic versus Paper

15. In recent years, banks and other companies have pushed strongly for consumers to
“go paperless,” i.e., forego receiving paper Account Statements and, instead, accept paperless,
electronic delivery.

16. Millions of Americans, however, lack meaningful access to broadband Internet at
home, and even computer/Internet-savvy consumers frequently prefer to receive paper Account
Statements.

17.  According to a December 2015 report by the Pew Research Center:

@ Over half of consumers with less than a high school education do not have
home broadband connections;

(b) Lower-income households lack access to broadband Internet at nearly twice
the rate of the general population; and

(©) About half of Hispanics and African Americans do not have access to
broadband Internet at home.

18. Merely because a consumer has a mobile device or even has accessed an account
through that device does not mean that the consumer has regular Internet access or that the
consumer is comfortable monitoring the account online or on a mobile device. Important
information in the Account Statement could be missed, particularly if in fine print, when read on
a small mobile device. And receiving billing and Account Statement availability notifications via

email can be more easily overlooked if the user’s primary email access is through a mobile device.
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Moreover, where consumers’ Internet access is predominantly limited to mobile devices, that can
present special issues for low-income families, because data is expensive and low-income
consumers may be reluctant to use their scarce monthly data allotments to access their Account
Statements.

19. Even those consumers who have regular, convenient access to the Internet and even
those who may be computer-savvy often prefer to receive paper Account Statements.

20.  Consumers often face a barrage of spam email solicitations that can bury important
messages like Account Statements.

21. Further, many consumers find paper Account Statements are easier to file in a safe
place not subject to loss from crashed hard drives, data loss when changing computers and devices,
or other forms of digital data loss. Paper Account Statements can be filed in a folder and easily
recalled even years later, and even long after the consumer closes an account.

22.  With frequent data breaches being widely publicized, many consumers are also
rightfully concerned and reluctant to access their sensitive financial accounts online.

23. Bottom line, consumers should not be forced to access accounts electronically if
they do not want to do so, or if doing so limits their access to their important account information.

C. New York’s Statutory Prohibition of Paper Account Statement Fees

24, In 2010, the New York legislature explicitly recognized the need for consumers to
have access to their Account Statements in paper form without additional expense, enacting a bill
codified at N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz, and effective April 18, 2011.

25. N.Y. GBL 8§ 399-zzz provides, in relevant part:

(1) Subject to federal law and regulation, no person, partnership, corporation,

association, or other business entity shall charge a consumer an additional rate

or fee or a differential in the rate or fee associated with payment on an account
when the consumer chooses to pay by United States mail or receive a paper
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billing statement. This subdivision shall not be construed to prohibit a person,
partnership, corporation association, or other business entity from offering
consumers a credit or other incentive to elect a specific payment or billing
option.

(2) Every violation of this section shall be deemed a deceptive act and practice
subject to enforcement under article twenty-two-A of this chapter.

26.  Article 22-A, as referenced in N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz, contains New York’s
“Consumer Protection from Deceptive Acts and Practices” statutes, including, without limitation,
N.Y. GBL § 349, which makes deceptive acts and practices unlawful.

27.  State Senator Peralta sponsored the legislation, setting out its purpose as “to
prohibit businesses from imposing an additional rate or fee on the account of a consfumer] who
chooses to receive paper billing statements or pay by United States mail.”

28. In Senator Peralta’s sponsor memorandum, he wrote that the bill would prohibit
“any person, partnership, corporation, association or other business entity from charging a
consumer an additional rate or fee associated with payment on an account when the consumer
selects to ... receive a paper billing statement.”

29. In justifying the need for the bill, Senator Peralta wrote:

In recent months, there have been instances of major companies proposing to
impose an additional fee on the accounts of customers that choose to receive a paper
bill.... Such paper billing and payment fees unfairly impact those consumers that
do not have Internet access in their homes, as well as, those that are uncomfortable
using the Internet, including many senior citizens and those concerned about
personal privacy.

Paper billing and payment fees disproportionately affect low-income consumers
who are less likely to have access to the Internet. Furthermore, such policies
impose an additional burden on those customers who choose to file their billing
statements for later reference, as such customers will be forced to bear the cost of
printing electronic billing statements on their home printer.

While the environmental benefits of electronic billing and payment are clear, a
better approach to reducing paper use in this area is available. Several major
companies have successfully reduced paper usage by offering customers an
incentive to switch to electronic billing and payment.
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30. InaJuly 12, 2010 letter to Counsel to the Governor concerning the legislation, the
Consumer Protection Board echoed Senator Peralta’s sponsor memo, and noted:

[Although companies save money and provide environmental benefits by issuing
electronic statements,] account billing and payment via the United States mail is a
long-standing tradition to which many consumers respond to. Electronic mail does
not have the same impact with some consumers. More importantly, account billing
is a cost of doing business that has been built into a service or product cost. Thus,
if a company wants to move its customers to electronic billing, it should do so with
incentive based tactics, as this measure provides, and not a broad sweeping fee
imposed upon consumers as a penalty for those who prefer or are limited to doing
business in the traditional receipt of paper bills.

Accordingly, the [Consumer Protection Board] strongly supports this legislation to
protect consumers who prefer or are limited to receiving their monthly billing
statements via paper billing received via the traditional United States Postal mail
system.

(emphasis in original).
31.  The bill was ultimately passed and makes each violation of N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz a

deceptive act and practice subject to enforcement under the N.Y. GBL.

D. Related Federal Laws and Regulations

32. N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz is, by its express terms, subject to federal laws and regulation.

33.  The National Bank Act (“NBA”) authorizes national banks to receive deposits and
perform “all such incidental powers as shall be necessary to carry on the business of banking.” 12
U.S.C. § 24,

34.  The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) has the regulatory
oversight of national banks’ exercise of these federally authorized powers, and Congress delegated
to the OCC authority to determine the scope of these incidental powers. See 12 U.S.C. § 93a.

35.  The OCC'’s regulations recognize that “national bank[s] may receive deposits and
engage in any activity incidental to receiving deposits ... subject to ... limitations prescribed by

the [OCC] and any other applicable Federal law.” 12 C.F.R. § 7.4000. The OCC regulations
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further state that “A national bank may charge its customers non-interest charges and fees,
including deposit account service charges.” 12 C.F.R. § 7.4002(a).
36. But the OCC regulations provide that:
The establishment of non-interest charges and fees ... are business decisions to be
made by each bank, in its discretion, according to sound banking judgment and
safe and sound banking principles. A national bank establishes non-interest
charges and fees in accordance with safe and sound banking principles if the bank
employs a decision-making process through which it considers the following
factors, among others: (i) The cost incurred by the bank in providing the service;
(i) The deterrence of misuse by customers of banking services; (iii) The
enhancement of the competitive position of the bank in accordance with the bank’s

business plan and marketing strategy; and (iv) The maintenance of the safety and
soundness of the institution.

Id. § 7.4002(b) (emphasis added).

37. Thus, although the OCC regulations generally provide national banks the authority
under the NBA to “charge its customers non-interest charges and fees, including deposit service
charges,” 12 C.F.R. 8 7.4002(a), the OCC has limited those charges and fees to those that require
“sound banking judgment and safe and sound banking principles.” 12 C.F.R. § 7.4002(b). Such
limitation appropriately complies with the Supreme Court’s multiple comments that state laws of
general application are not preempted by the NBA. See, e.g., Cuomo v. Clearinghouse Ass’n., 557
U.S. 519 (2009); Watters v. Wachovia Bank, 550 U.S. 1 (2007).

38. N.Y. GBL 8§ 399-zzz is a law of “general application.” It imposes no special duty
on banks (nationally chartered institutions or otherwise). Its mandates apply equally to banks and
all other businesses. This is for good reason: the conduct of printing and mailing an Account
Statement is not specific to banking (many types of businesses generate Account Statements) and
neither requires the exercise of banking judgment nor application of banking principals. Indeed,
N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz does not speak to, inter alia, (1) the content or format of Account Statements,

or (2) how paper Account Statement fees must be disclosed to consumers. Rather, N.Y. GBL 8§
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399-zzz establishes a prohibition of a specific type of fee charged by all types of businesses, the
definition of a law of “general application.”

E. TD Bank’s Paper Account Statement Fee

39.  TD Bank charges consumers with various types of TD Bank accounts a fee to
receive their Account Statement in paper form via the U.S. mail.

40.  TD Bank Account Statements set forth the consumers’ electronic deposits and
payments, checks paid, daily balances, and the fees that TD Bank charges the consumer, including
the TD Bank fee for consumers’ receipt of paper Account Statements.

41.  TD Bank’s Account Statements also reflect the payment of the fees that TD Bank
charges consumers via a debited adjustment to their balance.

42.  TD Bank’s Account Statements thus reflect both fee charges and payments, just as
other types of Account Statements (e.g., credit card statements which also reflect that a consumer
may be charged a fee and will reflect payments, regardless whether made prior to or after the
statement issues).

43. By setting out the fees that TD Bank charges consumers, the Account Statements
that TD Bank issues constitute “paper billing statement[s]” under N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz.

44.  Therefore, TD Bank’s fee charged to consumers for receiving their Account
Statements in paper form violates N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz, and each such fee charge constitutes a
separate and independent deceptive act and practice that violates N.Y. GBL § 349.

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

45, Plaintiff brings this action individual and on behalf of the following class of New
York residents under Rule 23(a), Rule 23(b)(2) and Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure:
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All New York residents who were charged a fee to receive their Account Statements

in paper form by TD Bank during the time period beginning three years before the

date of the filing of this complaint, and ending on the earlier of the date the class

list is prepared or the date when TD Bank ceases charging consumers a fee to

receive their Account Statements in paper form (“the Class).

46. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable. There are thousands of members of the Class. The exact number of Class members
and their identities are known to TD Bank (and can be determined through discovery).

47.  There are numerous questions of law and fact common to each Class member and
that predominate in this action, including, but not limited to:

@) Whether TD Bank charged customers a monthly fee to receive their
Account Statements in paper form; and,
(b) Whether such fees violated N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz.

48. Plaintiff’s interests are typical of, and not antagonistic to, those of other members
of the Class, such that Plaintiff can fairly and adequately represent and protect their interests.

49. Plaintiff is represented by counsel who are competent and experienced in the
prosecution of consumer and class action litigation.

50. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class would
create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications.

51.  The questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class predominate
over any questions affecting only individual members, including legal and factual issues relating
to liability and damages.

52. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy. Treatment of this action as a class action will permit a large

number of similarly situated persons to adjudicate their common claims in a single forum

10
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simultaneously, efficiently and without the duplication of effort and expense that numerous
individual actions would engender. The Class is readily definable and a class action will eliminate
the possibility of repetitious litigation.

53.  Class treatment will also permit the adjudication of relatively small claims by many
Class members who otherwise could not afford to litigate claims such as those asserted in this
Complaint. This class action, which is limited to claims by New York residents under New York
law, presents no difficulties of management that would preclude its maintenance as a class action.

V1. CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK GBL § 349
(On Behalf of the Class)

54. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs as though
set forth herein.

55. TD Bank is a national banking association, thereby constituting a “person,
partnership, corporation, association, or other business entity” under N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz.

56. TD Bank’s Account Statements are “billing statements” under N.Y. GBL § 399-
zzz because they set forth the fees and charges TD Bank assesses on consumers.

57. TD Bank states its “Paper Statement Fee” is “an additional ... fee ... when the
consumer chooses to ... receive a paper billing statement.”

58. Therefore, when TD Bank charges consumers to receive their Account Statement
in paper form, TD Bank violates N.Y. GBL 8§ 399-zzz and commits a deceptive act and practice
violative of N.Y. GBL § 349.

59.  TD Bank’s deceptive acts and practices as set forth herein constitute “conduct of

any business, trade or commerce, or in the furnishing of any service” in New York.

11
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60. Plaintiff and members of the Class are “person[s] who ha[ve] been injured by
reason of” TD Bank’s deceptive acts and practices. Indeed, Plaintiff and members of the Class
have been charged fees to receive their Account Statements in paper form, i.e., they have been
charged TD Bank’s “Paper Statement Fee.” TD Bank has also debited payment of these fees from
Plaintiff’s and Class members’ accounts.

61.  Therefore, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the Class, seeks to enjoin TD Bank’s
unlawful conduct, and seeks to recover actual damages at least equal to all Paper Statement Fees
paid by Plaintiff and all members of the Class or fifty dollars per each violation, whichever is
greater.

62. Moreover, TD Bank has known of N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz and its proscription of
charging fees to consumers who receive their Account Statements in paper form by mail for no
fewer than 22 months. TD Bank has likewise known that violating N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz means
that TD Bank is violating N.Y. GBL § 349 for that same period. As a result, Plaintiff, on behalf
of herself and the Class, seeks an order from the Court trebling Plaintiff and the Class’s actual
damages. Thus, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the Class, seeks to recover actual treble damages
or fifty dollars per violation, whichever is greater, for the period of time TD Bank knowingly
violated N.Y. GBL § 399-zzz and N.Y. GBL § 349.

VIil. PRAYER FORRELIEF

63. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the proposed Class,
respectfully requests that the Court:

a. Determine that this action may be maintained as a class action under Rule

23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Appoint Plaintiff as a Class

Representative, and Counsel for Plaintiff as Class Counsel;

12
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b. Adjudge and decree that Defendant has violated Section 349 of the N.Y.

GBL;

C. Permanently enjoin Defendant from charging paper statement fees in

violation of N.Y. GBL § 349;

d. Adjudge and decree that Defendant’s violations of N.Y. GBL § 349 was

willful and/or knowing;

e. Award Plaintiff and the Class damages, including compensatory,

exemplary, statutory, incidental, consequential, actual, treble, and punitive,

in an amount to be determined at trial;

f. Grant Plaintiff and the Class restitution and require Defendant to disgorge

its ill-gotten gains;

g. Award Plaintiff and the Class their costs and expenses, including attorneys’
fees;
h. Award prejudgment and post-judgment interest; and

i. Award any such other and further relief as may be just and proper.

Vill. JURY DEMAND

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(c), Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

Dated: March 23, 2020

13

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Shanon J. Carson

Shanon J. Carson, Bar No. 303059
Patrick F. Madden*

BERGER MONTAGUE PC

1818 Market Street, Suite 3600
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Tele: (215) 875-3000

Fax: (215) 875-4604

Email: scarson@bm.net

Email: pmadden@bm.net
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Joseph Hashmall*

BERGER MONTAGUE PC

43 SE Main Street, Suite 505
Minneapolis, MN 55414

T. 612.594.5999

F. 612.584.4470

Email: jhashmall@bm.net

*pro hac vice forthcoming

Counsel for Plaintiff and the
Proposed Class



JS44 (Rev 09/19)

Case 1:20-cv-00329-G'&S1-911E W@%Efiled 03/23/20 Page 1 of 2

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

T AT

. LAINTIF
RA&% l\lﬂ)ansgll\g), %dﬁ/?dually and on behalf of all others similarly situated

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff ~Rensselaer County
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)
NOTE:

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)
Shanon J. Carson, Berger Montague PC, 1818 Market Street, Suite

3600, Philadelphia, PA 19103; 215.875.3000

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)
O 1 US Government O 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State X1 O 1 Incorporated or Principal Place o4 04
of Business In This State
3 2 US Government X 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State a2 X 2 Incorporated and Principal Place as5 04as
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a a3 O 3 Foreign Nation g6 06
Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Piace an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
| CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES ]
O 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY |3 625 Drug Related Seizure 3 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 3 375 False Claims Act
O 120 Marine 3 310 Airplane 3 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 |3 423 Withdrawal 3 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
3 130 Miller Act 3 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
O 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability O 367 Health Care/ O 400 State Reapportionment
3 150 Recovery of Overpayment | (3 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 3 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 3 820 Copyrights 3 430 Banks and Banking
O 151 Medicare Act 3 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 3 830 Patent 3 450 Commerce
O 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability 3 368 Asbestos Personal [ 835 Patent - Abbreviated 3 460 Deportation
Student Loans O 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application 3 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) 3 345 Marine Product Liability [ 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations
O 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY 3 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits [ 350 Motor Vehicle [ 370 Other Fraud 3 710 Fair Labor Standards 3 861 HIA (1395ff) (15 USC 1681 or 1692)
O 160 Stockholders’ Suits 3 355 Motor Vehicle 3 371 Truth in Lending Act 3 862 Black Lung (923) O 485 Telephone Consumer
3 190 Other Contract Product Liability [ 380 Other Personal O 720 Labor/Management 3 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Protection Act
[ 195 Contract Product Liability |3 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations O 864 SSID Title XVI [ 490 Cable/Sat TV
[ 196 Franchise Injury O 385 Property Damage O 740 Railway Labor Act 3 865 RSI (405(g)) O 850 Securities/Commodities/
3 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability 3 751 Family and Medical Exchange
Medical Malpractice Leave Act X 890 Other Statutory Actions
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS | 790 Other Labor Litigation FEDERAL TAX SUITS 3 891 Agricultural Acts
0 210 Land Condemnation 3 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: 3 791 Employee Retirement 3 870 Taxes (U S Plaintiff 3 893 Environmental Matters
3 220 Foreclosure 3 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act or Defendant) [ 895 Freedom of Information
O 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment O 442 Employment O 510 Motions to Vacate 3 871 IRS—Third Party Act
3 240 Torts to Land 3 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 3 896 Arbitration
3 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations 3 530 General 3 899 Administrative Procedure
3 290 All Other Real Property O 445 Amer w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION Act/Review or Appeal of
Employment Other: 3 462 Naturalization Application Agency Decision
[ 446 Amer w/Disabilities - | 540 Mandamus & Other |3 465 Other Immigration 3 950 Constitutionality of
Other 3 550 Civil Rights Actions State Statutes
3 448 Education O 555 Prison Condition
3 560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of
Confinement

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)

X1 Original [ 2 Removed from A 3 Remanded from M 4 Reinstated or [ 5 Transferred from (3 6 Multidistrict [ 8 Multidistrict
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened Another District Litigation - Litigation -
(specify) Transfer Direct File

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

28 USC § 1332(d)

Brief description of cause:

Violation of NY GBL § 399-zzz, deceptive act & practice under NY GBL § 349

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

VII. REQUESTED IN (3 CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. JURY DEMAND: HMyes ONo
VIII. RELATED CASE(S) o A
IF ANY (Seemstrctions): 1 DGE DOCKET NUMBER
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
03/23/2020 /s/ Shanon J. Carson
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
ANYNDC-5068859
RECEIPT # amount  $400.00 APPLYING IFP JUDGE GTS MAG JUDGE TWD

1:20-CV-329



1S 44 Reverse (Rev 09/19) Ca@S€ 1:20-cv-00329-GTS-DJS Document 1-1 Filed 03/23/20 Page 2 of 2

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44
Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and
then the official, giving both name and title.

(b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

(c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X"
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

III.  Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

IV.  Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.
Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue.

VI.  Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.

Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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